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[HIGH COURT OF AUSTRALIA.]
SHAW : ; ; : : : : ; APPELLANT ;
AND
MEE QUEEN . ; : : : ! . RESPONDENT.

ON APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF CRIMINAL APPEAL OF
VICTORIA.

Criminal Law—Evidence—Procedure—Reopening of Crown case after close of case H. C. oF A.

for defence. 1952.
High Court—Criminal appeal—Special leave—Judiciary Act 1903-1950 (No. 6 of MEL;);;NE
1903—No. 80 of 1950), s. 35 (1) (b). ot 3_7,’
Although the judge presiding at a criminal trial has a discretionary power 20.
to allow the Crown to reopen its case and adduce further evidence after the Dixon,
close of the case for the defence, it is only in very exceptional circumstances Mc{%'ifg{;‘jm’
that such a course should be permitted. Flﬁlﬁ%grﬁnd

A rigid formula would be unsafe in view of the almost infinite variety
of difficulties that may arise at a criminal trial but the occasion must be
very special or exceptional to warrant a departure from the principle that
the prosecution must offer all its proofs during the progress of the Crown case
and before the prisoner is called upon for his defence.

Dictum of T%ndal C.J. in R. v. Frost, (1839) 4 St. Tr. (N.S.) 86, at p. 386 ;
9 Car. & P. 129, at p. 159 [173 E.R. 771, at p. 784], commented on as an
expression of the rule.

Some evidence having been given in the course of the Crown case that a
prisoner who was being tried on a charge of murdering a woman who had
been killed by manual strangulation had referred, in the presence of officers
of the police, to the deceased’s having been * throttled ”, the prisoner when
called on his own behalf admitted that he had used the expression. When
asked why he had used that word he said: “I heard the police talking
about it and I took it she had been throttled ”; and he added that, apart
from what the police had said, he had, when he used the word, no knowledge
of the cause of the death. It was suggested for the Crown that the prisoner’s
use of the word * throttled ”—at a time at which there had been no investi-
gation of the cause of death—showed guilty knowledge; and application

| VOL. LXXXV.—24
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was made to the presiding judge for leave to recall police witnesses in order
to show that there had been no discussion which would have indicated to
the prisoner that the deceased had been throttled. The judge gave leave ;
and the witnesses were recalled and gave evidence after the close of the
case for the defence. The prisoner was convicted of murder.

Held that the reopening of the Crown case was not justified ; the judge
had wrongly exercised his discretion, and the conviction should be set aside
and a new trial ordered.

Circumstances in which the High Court will grant special leave to appeal
in criminal matters under s. 35 (1) (b) of the Judiciary Act 1903-1950
considered.

In re Eather v. The King, (1915) 20 C.L.R. 147, referred to.

Decision of the Court of Criminal Appeal of Victoria reversed.

AppricaTION for special leave to appeal, and AppeAL, from the
Court of Criminal Appeal of Victoria.

In the Supreme Court of Victoria, before O’Bryan J. and a jury,
Stanley Henry Shaw was charged with the murder of Sylvia
Holmes.

It appeared from the evidence that on the night of 5th May
1950 the accused had reported to the police that he had found the
body of the deceased in the house in which he had for some time
been living with her. Subsequently, on the same night, several
officers of police arrived at the house. According to the evidence
of one of them, the accused said to him: “ Find the bastard who
throttled Sylvia and don’t stay around here ””; but, according to
another of them, what the accused said was : “ Stop sitting around
here and get the bastard that did Sylvia ”. The accused gave
evidence in which he admitted that he had said: “ Go and find
the bastard that throttled Sylvia ”. Asked why he had used the
word “ throttled ’, he said : I heard the police talking about 1t
and I took it she had been throttled ”. After the close of the case
for the defence the presiding judge permitted the prosecution to
recall police witnesses with a view to establishing that at the
relevant time nothing had been said from which the accused could
have gathered that the deceased had been throttled. The medical
evidence showed that the deceased had been killed by manual
strangulation. Further facts appear in the joint judgment of
Dizon, McTiernan, Webb and Kaitto JJ. hereunder.

The accused was found guilty of murder and sentenced to death.

He applied to the Full Court constituted as a Court of Criminal
Appeal under Part V. of the Orimes Act 1928 (Viet.) (amended,
a5 to the dohnition of - Full Gonny: Hin' =502 thercof sbyss ot
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the Crimes Act 1949) for leave to appeal against the conviction.
The court by a majority (Lowe and Martin JJ.) (Smath J. dis-
senting) refused the application.

By motion on notice to the Crown the accused sought of the
High Court special leave to appeal from this decision.

M. J. Ashkanasy Q.C. (with him H. U. Best), for the accused.
The trial judge was wrong in allowing the Crown to reopen its
case. The evidence thereby admitted was wrongly admitted and
resulted in a substantial miscarriage of justice. The course per-
mitted by the trial judge was inconsistent with the provisions of
ss. 430, 431 and 448 of the Crimes Act 1928 (Vict.). The
effect of these provisions was briefly stated by Smath J. when he
referred to the provisions of the Act “ which specify the close of
the Crown case as the point of time at which ~ the accused *is
allowed to make answer and defence by counsel and at which he is
called on to elect as between the various methods of defence open
to him *” and remarked that they ‘ clearly proceed upon the general
view that ~* the accused “ should know what is the evidence against
him before he makes his defence or election . Smath J. did not
treat the provisions of the Act as concluding the matter in favour
of the accused here; but it is submitted that that is the logical
outcome of the provisions. If this submission is wrong, the
authorities show that this was not a proper case for the granting
of leave to the Crown to reopen its case. In R. v. Frost (1) Tindal
C.J. is reported as having said that the Crown must close its case
“ before the defence begins ; but if any matter arises ex improviso,
which no human ingenuity can foresee, on the part of . . . a
prisoner . . . there seems to me no reason why that matter
which so arose ex @mproviso may not be answered by contrary
evidence on the part of the Crown ”. That passage has been
frequently relied on in more recent cases in KEngland as affording
the test of the power of the trial judge either to call a witness
himself or to allow the Crown to reopen its case (R. v. Harres (2) ;
R. v. Liddle (3); R. v. McMahon (4); R. v. Day (5)). Whether
or not the actual words of Tndal C.J. as so reported are regarded
as an exact statement of the test, the substance of the matter
clearly is that the power to admit further evidence is to be exercised
only in circumstances of a highly unusual nature. It is submitted
further that, to guard against a miscarriage of justice, an important

(1) (1839) 4 St. Tr. (N.S.) 86, at  (3) (1928) 21 Cr. App. R. 3.
p. 386. (4) (1933) 24 Cr. App. R. 95.
(2) (1927) 2 K.B. 587. (5) (1940) 27 Cr. App. R. 168.
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H. C.or A. consideration is the matter of prejudice to the accused. In the
1::’_“)} present case the further evidence, admitted at the stage at which
Suaw 16 was admitted, was calculated to assume in the eyes of the jury

L (S'U e 2o importance ‘far' beyond its true weight ; and the trial judge’s
S summing up contained nothing which would have assisted the jury

in assessing the value of the evidence. As was pointed out by
Smath J., the evidence of the police officers did not exclude the
possibility that some other person in the house at the relevant
time had used the word ° throttled ”’ within the hearing of the
accused. Moreover, although the accused said he had used the
word ““ throttled ”’, the evidence as a whole suggests a doubt as
to whether he did actually use that word at the relevant time.
Again, it may be that his observation of the deceased suggested
to him that she had been throttled. Thus, the evidence was by
no means inconsistent with the accused’s innocence. The summing
up did not deal with these considerations at all. If the judge was
right in admitting the further evidence, he was under a duty to
deal with these considerations; and his failure to do so was in
effect a misdirection in material respects. [He referred to R. v.
Vassileva (1).] In the circumstances generally of this case, and,
in particular, in view of the importance of the question as to the
reopening of the Crown case, it is submitted that special leave to
appeal should be granted ; and, if so, the appeal should be allowed.

The Solicitor-General of Victoria (H. A. Winneke Q.C.) and
F. R. Nelson, for the Crown. There is no case here for the grant
of special leave. To justify special leave special features or cir-
cumstances must be shown (In re Eather v. The King (2); Ross v.
The King (3); Craig v. The King (4); Green v. The King (5)).
This case presents no such special features or circumstances. The
grounds of appeal argued in the court below were suitable for exam-
ination by the Court of Criminal Appeal, but they do not present
special features appropriate for examination by the High Court in
its special-leave jurisdiction. Sections 430, 431 and 448 of the Crimes
Act 1928 are not an absolute bar to the reopening of the Crown
case. These provisions have stood for a long time, and there are
similar provisions of long standing in England. Nevertheless, the
English cases have long recognized that there are circumstances
in which the Crown case may be reopened. The references in
ss. 430 and 448 to “ the close of the case for the prosecution ” are

L.R. 246, at p. 250.
L.R. 429, at p. 442.
L.R. 167, at p. 177.

(1) (1911) 6 Cr. App. R. 228, at  (3) (1922) 30 C.
p. 232. (4) (1933) 49 C.

(2) (1915) 20 C.L.R. 147. (5) (1939) 61 C.
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not inconsistent with its being reopened. The construction
suggested for the accused would be impracticable. In a case, for
example, in which the defence of insanity is raised—the burden
of proof on that issue being on the accused—it is essential to the
proper administration of justice that it should be open to the
Crown to rebut that defence.

[DixonN J. referred to R. v. Collins (1).]

[Counsel referred to R. v. James (2).] The recall of the police
witnesses was properly permitted. The principle is that the
occasion or issue must be one which has arisen unexpectedly
and which the Crown could not reasonably have been expected
to foresee. This is the principle accepted by Lowe and Martin
JJ. and also by Smath J. 1t was the principle applied by O’ Bryan J.
at the trial. Twndal C.J. does not appear to have been correctly
reported in R. v. Frost (3). In another report of the same case
(4) the phrase “ which the Crown could not foresee ” appears
in lieu of the phrase ““ which no human ingenuity can foresee ”,
and, as 1t affords a practicable test (which the other phrase does
not), it seems probable that this is a correct report. If it is to
be assumed that the words “ no human ingenuity ” were in fact
used by Twndal C.J., it is difficult to see how they can be
applied unless they are qualified in some way ; it is suggested
that they should be regarded as meaning ““ no human ingenuity
on the part of a competent and reasonable prosecutor .
In the report of R. v. Harris (5) (reported somewhat differently
in the authorized report (6)) it appears that in the course of the
argument Crown counsel said he had carefully considered whether
the witness in question should be called. The Chief Justice said :
“ Then his evidence was not ex wmproviso ”. In the judgment
the matter of fresh evidence is limited to something arising ex
tmproviso. The ratio of this case is that the matter in issue was
not ex tmproviso. In each of the cases B. v. Liddle (7), R. v.
McMahon (8), R. v. Day (9), the facts were extraordinary and
a statement of prineiple in such wide terms as in R. v. Frost (10)
was unnecessary for the decision. In R. v. Crippen (11) the view
taken was that the trial judge had a general discretion subject to
the question of unfairness; and that decision was adhered to in

(1) (1907) V.L.R. 292. (7) (1928) 21 Cr. App. R. 3: See
(2) (1884) 10 V.L.R. 193. 190 3%,
(3) (1839) 4 St. Tr. (N.S.), at p. 386. (8) (1933) 24 Cr. App. R. 95.
(4) (1839) 9 Car. & P. 129, at p. 159 (9) (1940) 27 Cr. App. R. 168.
[173 E.R. 771, at p. 784]. (10) (1839) 4 St. Tr. (N.S.), at p. 386.
(5) (1927) 20 Cr. App. R. 86: See (11) (1911) 1 K.B. 149; (1910) 5 Cr.
pp- 88, 89. App. R. 255 : See pp. 265, 267.

(6) (1927) 2 K.B. 587.
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H. Cona. R v, Sullivaw (1), in which' R, v. Frost (2) was cited. The
1:{’_3) question 1s essentially one of the exercise of a discretion by the
guaw  tmial judge. In considering the exercise of the discretion an

L appellate court should not substitute its discretion for that of the

THE QUEBN. 1 imary judge unless it reaches the clear conclusion that there has

“been a wrongful exercise of the discretion (Storie v. Storie (3);
Lovell v. Lovell (4) ). There was a proper exercise of the discretion
in the present case. The essential point is whether a competent
prosecutor should reasonably have foreseen the explanation in fact
given by the accused and should have led the negativing evidence.
One must revert to the time of the closure of the Crown case and
place oneself in the position the prosecutor was in up to that
time. As the matter then stood, it would have been unreasonable
to expect an allegation by the defence that a suggestion of throttling
came from anybody on the scene at the time in question. There
was no suggestion in the cross-examination of the Crown witnesses
that throttling had been suggested to the accused ; on the contrary,
the cross-examination by accused’s counsel suggested a denial by
the accused of the statement. Thus, a position of complete
surprise was created which called for the exercise of the trial
judge’s discretion in the general interests of justice. In the
absence of some intimation from the defence, it would be un-
reasonable to expect the Crown to set out upon the proof of a
series of negatives which might well transpire not to be in issue
at all. There was a series of possibilities, namely : (a) A denial
of the statement by the accused. (b) A statement that he had
surmised the cause of death from his inspection of the body.
(c) That the police had made some remark suggesting throttling
as the cause of death. (d) That some civilian who had been in
the house or with whom the accused had been in contact while
summoning the police had made the suggestion. The jury was
not misdirected by the judge’s charge. He drew the jury’s atten-
tion to the form of the accused’s admission that he had used the
word ¢ throttled ”. In the circumstances of the case the judge
was not obliged to put to the jury the suggested possible innocent
explanations. They involve highly speculative inferences of fact
which were not advanced by the defence at the trial. The questions
of fact were for the jury ; the judge was not under any obligation
to deal with every conceivable situation of fact. R. v. Vassileva (5)
is merely an illustration of a judge misleading a jury as to a possible

(1) (1923) 1 K.B. 47 ; (1922) 16 Cr. (4) (1950) 81 C.L.R. 513, at pp. 518,
App. R. 121 : See p. 123. 519, 526.

(2) (1839) 4 St. Tr. (N.S.), at p. 386. (5) (1911) 6 Cr. App. R. 228.

(3) (1945) 80 C.L.R. 597, at p. 604.
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innocent interpretation. The charge in the present case was not
misleading. [Counsel referred to R. v. Grasso (1) ; R. v. Burles (2).]

M. J. Ashkanasy Q.C., in reply.
Cur. adv. vult.

The following written judgments were delivered : —

Dixon, McTierNaN, WEBB AND KrrTo JJ. This is an applica-
tion by a prisoner convicted of murder for special leave to appeal
from an order of the Supreme Court of Victoria refusing him leave
to appeal against his conviction.

The questions upon which the application to this court depends
cannot be understood without a brief account of some of the
circumstances of the crime.

The prisoner was convicted of murdering a young woman,
twenty-two years of age, with whom he had been living. Her
name was Sylvia Holmes. Her death was caused by manual
throttling, but before her death she had received a blow of some
kind on the left side of the chin where bruising had developed.
She and the prisoner lived in a very small semi-detached dwelling
in Fitzroy. She worked as an office cleaner in the city but she
was also a prostitute. The prisoner worked at a factory. Their
association had gone on for about six years, for the last four years
of which they had been living together, apparently in this dwelling.
Sylvia Holmes was killed on the evening of Friday 5th May 1950.
On the afternoon and evening of that day the prisoner had been
drinking beer, first in a neighbouring hotel and afterwards in the
house of another prostitute a couple of doors down the street.
This woman’s name was Ada Adkins. It appears from the evidence
that Sylvia Holmes, who presumably had returned from cleaning,
came and called the prisoner to come to his tea. After some delay
he went. He encountered two companions in the street with
whom he drank more beer. One then accompanied him to his
dwelling and sat with Sylvia Holmes and the prisoner in their
kitchen while they ate their meal. According to him their behaviour
was amicable. After that the prisoner returned to Ada Adking’
house. The time would then have been about half past seven.
Ada Adkins deposed that after his return the prisoner made use
of strong expressions of resentment at the behaviour of Sylvia
Holmes, the grounds being in effect that she was complaining of
his visiting Ada Adkins and that she would not allow him to have
sexual intercourse with her without his using a contraceptive.

(1) (1950) V.L.R. 21, at p. 27. (2) (1947) V.L.R. 392, at p. 408.

371

186, € om A\,
1952.
—~

SHAW
@y
THE QUEEN.

March 20.



372 HIGH COURT [1952.

H. C.or A. According to the witness he said that he would knock her out

1:‘?_{ if she did not shut up. He sat with a party of people drinking
guaw  In Ada Adkins’ house. The beer ran out and she set forth to

v. procure more. She says that the prisoner left the house with
Tue QUEBN. o and that when they reached his house, where the light was
ke d - on, he said ; You go and get the beer and I will slip in and see
SR Lo Sylvia is ”. He entered the house and she went on. The

prisoner’s version is that he did not accompany Ada Adkins from
her house when she set out to obtain more beer, but remained for
some time, he going back, however, to his house before she had
returned. Ada Adkins said that she went for the beer, obtained
it and carried it back, her route taking her again past the prisoner’s
dwelling. On her account twenty minutes or more must have
elapsed. Just as she had passed the prisoner’s house he called to
her from his front door. On entering she found the body of
Sylvia Holmes lying halfway on the bed in the front room, the
room upon which the door opened. The prisoner’s story was
that he had just gone in the front door on his return from Ada
Adkins’ house and had found the body in this position. He had
seen Ada Adkins approaching and had also seen near by another
woman named Phyllis Gunn. Having seen Sylvia Holmes’ body
and having cried out to her without response, he rushed out of the
door and called first to Ada Adkins and then to Phyllis Gunn.
The latter, according to him, was the first to come. Phyllis Gunn,
who fixed the time as about five minutes past nine, agrees with the
prisoner that she entered first and as to this disagrees with Ada
Adkins. Phyllis Gunn felt Sylvia Holmes’ heart and concluded
that she was dead. The prisoner told her to “ get out ” and set
off for the police. Ada Adkins’ evidence puts a definite interval
between her own entry and the arrival of Phyllis Gunn. She
swore that she said to the prisoner: “ What happened ? Is she
dead or alive ?” He answered that she was dead and added :
““ She has had it coming to her for a long time but I did not mean
to kill her ”. He said he hit her but he did not mean to do it.
She then took the beer to her house, returning at once with two
bottles. Tt was then, as her evidence appears to state, that
Phyllis Gunn came in. The latter, however, went to her own
house as the prisoner ran off for the police, while Ada Adkins
remained in the prisoner’s dwelling with the body of Sylvia Holmes.
When the police took charge they kept the prisoner out of the
front room. He behaved in an excited, not to say frantic, manner.
A doctor came who pronounced the girl dead but he did not look
for the cause of death. At a late hour police photographers came
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and then the government pathologist. Except that Ada Adkins
had straightened a mat and that the dead girl’s leg which hung
over the bedside had been placed on the bed, it is said that nothing
had been moved. The photographs show the body lying face
uppermost, with the right buttock over the edge of the bed and
the trunk and head extending diagonally across the bed, a double
bed. The coverlet had been thrown back to the right-hand side
of the bed, the pillows were displaced and the undersheet was also
pushed back, so that except where a pillow was partly under it
the body lay on a blanket. The girl’s legs were bare, her dress
being pushed up to her thighs. Her panties were at the head of
the bed, her watch under her body and her head scarf under her
elbow. On the floor was a clean contraceptive. Phyllis Gunn
said that the bedclothes were not in this condition when she came
in, but were undisturbed with the body lying on the coverlet.
Ada Adkins in effect said that they were in the same condition.
The bruise on the chin of the dead girl was visible, but it is doubtful
if any marks on her neck and throat were distinctly noticeable.
Until the government pathologist came, no-one, according to the
case for the prosecution, knew what the cause of death was. But
one officer of police said that in the meantime the prisoner, after
making a violent attempt to escape from them to the room where
the body lay, told a constable who said that he had been at more
than beer that that had nothing to do with him and continued :
“ Find the bastard who throttled Sylvia and don’t stay around
here . The Crown prosecutor, in opening to the jury, used this
against the prisoner because at that stage of the evening no-one
but the man who killed her could know that Sylvia Holmes had
been throttled. The other police officer, however, gave a different
version. According to his version the prisoner said : * Stop sitting
around here and get the bastard who did Sylvia ”* or words to that
effect. The prisoner was not then arrested. It appears that
Ada Adkins did not at that time tell the police of the statement
he made to her when she first entered the room where the dead
girl lay, namely, that he had hit her but did not mean to kill her.
Indeed it was not until 6th July 1951, over a year later, that she
told them. A brother of Sylvia Holmes said that on the day
following her death the prisoner remarked to him that if he had
been at work it would not have happened, a remark the prisoner
explained in his evidence as meaning that he would not have had
the shock of finding her body. But naturally it was used against
him as really meaning that he would not have killed her had he
been at work. The medical evidence showed that Sylvia Holmes
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had been strangled or throttled by someone’s bare hands. It
showed too that she had not long been dead. But it proved that
she must have received the blow upon her chin at some interval
before death not less than ten minutes.

The foregoing outline is limited to evidence of which the admissi-
bility or the reception at the trial was not in question upon this
application. It is better to state the nature of the evidence, the
reception of which was in question in considering whether it
ought to have been received. It will be seen that if Ada Adkins’
account of the prisoner’s statements to her and of his movements
was accepted, the case to show that it was at the hands of the
prisoner that Sylvia Holmes died was by no means weak. There
was ample time while Ada Adkins was getting the further supply
of beer for him to do it. Throttling would not take a minute,
and 1t 18 not necessary to suppose that the throttling followed
the blow on the chin in rapid succession. He might have given
her a blow on the chin early in a scene of violence and mounting
passion. Because the medical evidence was inconsistent with
death having occurred immediately after the blow, an hypothesis
was put forward that the prisoner delivered the blow which
had rendered her unconscious and that he had gone for the police
leaving her in this condition. The hypothesis was that she was
then not dead and that she was strangled during his absence.
This it was suggested might account for the discrepancy in the
evidence as to the state of the bed. It is enough to state this
hypothesis to show that it may safely be neglected, as, in fact,
it was at the trial.

The learned judge who presided at the trial put the case to the
jury as one in which it was open to them to find a verdict of murder
in one or other of three aspects. They might find that the prisoner
brought about the young woman’s death by a voluntary act done
intending to kill her. They might find that, although an intention
to kill was absent, he did intend to inflict grievous bodily harm and
did an act likely to lead to death. The third alternative was that
without an intention to kill her he caused her death in the course
of attempting to have sexual connection with her against her will
and by force, caused it by force of a kind likely to bring about her
death. If they were not satisfied of any of these alternatives
but were satisfied that he had killed her laying his hands on her
against her will the jury might find the prisoner guilty of man-
slaughter. But his Honour warned them against finding a verdict
of manslaughter by way of compromise.
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Upon this direction it may be remarked that, assuming always
that the jury were satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that it was
the prisoner who caused Sylvia Holmes” death, there was nothing
in the facts to suggest that she did anything that would afford
provocation reducing the homicide to manslaughter. On the
other hand, the circumstances did, on the same assumption, make
it rather more likely than not that the attack upon the woman
in which she was throttled was made in an outburst of passionate
violence on the part of the prisoner, who was not, in making the
particular attack, animated by a specific intent to effect a further
purpose. It may be that it all arose from demands for sexual
connection without using a contraceptive. That might account
for what the photographs show. But it does not follow that when
he throttled her he was actually attempting to commit rape upon
her body or doing something in furtherance of that object. Indeed
there is an absence of some of the evidences of this that might
be expected. These considerations do not directly affect the
questions upon which our decision depends, but they show that
much turned upon a precise application of the distinction between
murder and manslaughter and they bear upon the importance to
be attached to the reception of evidence the admissibility of which
1s denied.

At the trial the Crown prosecutor, without objection from
counsel for the prisoner, led a great deal of evidence of doubtful
or at all events of disputed relevance. The admissibility of the
evidence is put by the Crown on the ground that it tends to show
either motive or possible motive, or grounds of resentment on the
part of Sylvia Holmes and consequent anger and violence on the
prisoner’s part, or the prisoner’s hostility to the use of a contra-
ceptive in sexual intercourse or threats to Sylvia Holmes betokening
hostility or a desire, presumably an intermittently recurrent
desire, to kill her or else that it tends to rebut a possible defence
that the prisoner bore such affection to her that he would be
unlikely to kill her.

A young woman named Kathleen Adams was called to say that
fifteen months before Sylvia Holmes’ death she had begun to
have sexual relations with the prisoner, that he did not use a contra-
ceptive, that at the time of the crime she was pregnant to him of
a child born on 3rd August 1950, that she had not seen the prisoner
from the time of the crime until after the birth of her child, but
that at the time of his arrest she was living with him, and that
about eight months before her death Sylvia Holmes had shown
her hostility to her in an insulting manner. This evidence appears
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to be entirely inadmissible. It is of course theoretically possible
that because another woman was pregnant to him he wanted to
get rid of Sylvia Holmes. But that is a speculation with no
relation to the realities of the situation which the foregoing summary
depicts. He was not married to Sylvia Holmes, who was a prosti-
tute with whom he chose to live. Apparently he was married to
some other woman. To the police the prisoner did remark that he
loved Sylvia and would not kill her, but that does not justify
the introduction into the case of his relations with other women.
The evidence of this witness is not made relevant in any manner
to the crime charged. In the evidence of Ada Adkins, who, 1t
will be remembered, was another prostitute, were descriptions of
how the prisoner had sexual connection with her and did not use
a contraceptive and how Sylvia Holmes came looking for him and
how she exhibited her hostility to the witness. Strangely enough, this
was not made the subject of distinct objection upon the hearing
of the application for leave to appeal in the Supreme Court. Only
in a very exceptional case would this Court entertain an objection
not taken-before the Court of Criminal Appeal as a ground for
granting special leave. But, in the view we take of the whole case,
it is perhaps proper to observe that, except that the prisoner’s
statement on Hth May 1950 to Ada Adkins to the effect that
Sylvia resented his coming to her house and the manner in which
she behaved that evening when coming near or into contact with
the witness may make the dead woman’s attitude to Ada Adkins
relevant, the passages summarized above from her evidence do not
seem admissible.

A male witness was called who deposed among other things
that two or three months before her death he had intercourse
several times with Sylvia Holmes and that she requested him to
use a contraceptive which she produced from a drawer. This
evidence was irrelevant and inadmissible, but, except for its
contribution to the distraction of the minds of the jurors from the
vital issues, it could hardly matter much.

A complaint is made that evidence was led of threats of violence
or exhibitions of violence towards Sylvia Holmes by the prisoner.
In the main this evidence was admissible because 1t might
reasonably be considered to tend to show the prisoner’s violent
behaviour towards her as the woman with whom he was living.
But there are two or three observations to be made in reference
to such evidence. First some of it consisted in descriptions of
marks of injury borne by Sylvia Holmes, no direct evidence being
tendered to show that the prisoner inflicted them. This evidence
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could only be made admissible by circumstantial evidence raising
a presumptive inference that he was the author of the injuries.
In most of these instances there is not enough for this purpose,
as the transcript stands. In the second place, some of the evidence
of violence and threats of violence relates to a time somewhat
remote from the date of the crime, remote enough to make it
likely that, had it been objected to, it would have been excluded.
That, however, leads to the third observation, namely, that
in the particular circumstances of this case the frequent use
of violence by the prisoner towards the woman with whom he was
living and threats that one day he would kill her, especially when
repeated over a long period, do not necessarily tend tosupport
the inference that he deliberately killed her and do anything but
tend to show that he killed her in the course of attempting to
commit rape.

It is now necessary to pass to what is perhaps the most important
question in the case, a question about which the Supreme Court
was divided in opinion, Lowe and Martin JJ. taking a view against
the prisoner and Smith J. a view in his favour. When the two
police officers gave in evidence respectively the differing versions
of what the prisoner had said about pursuing the man who had
killed Sylvia, it must have seemed antecedently probable that if
the prisoner gave evidence on his own behalf, as in the event he
did, he would deny the version which attributed to him the word
“ throttle ”” and adopt the version which made him use the expres-
sion ““ who did Sylvia . Clearly the latter could not incriminate
him whilst the word “ throttle ” could only be used by him, if he
had not committed the crime, because either from something he
had heard or something he had seen, he thought that was the
manner of Sylvia Holmes’ death. But at the stage when he made
this statement nothing, so far as the evidence went, had occurred
or appeared which would indicate that she had been throttled.
The prisoner’s counsel cross-examined the officer, who deposed to
the word  throttle” to show that the other constable had an
equally good opportunity of hearing the word actually used, that
is to say, the constable who deposed to the words “ who did
Sylvia ”. The transcript of the evidence discloses other grounds
for supposing that the prisoner was expected by his counsel to say
in evidence that the word he employed was not “ throttle 7, and
that the other police officer was right in saying that he spoke of
the man  who did Sylvia ”” or words to that effect. But when
the prisoner was being examined in chief he stated that he did
say : “ Stop sitting round here and go and find the bastard that

377

18, Cf @ A\
1952.
)

SHAW
s
THE QUEEN.

Dixon J.
McTiernan J.
Webb J.
Kitto J.



378

H. C. or A.
1952,
HK_J
SHAW

5
THE QUEEN.

Dixon J.
McTiernan J.
Webb J.
Kitto J.

HIGH COURT [1952.

throttled Sylvia ”. He was then asked: ‘ Well, now, why did
you use the word ‘throttled’?” and answered: “ Well I heard
the police talking about it and I took it she had been throttled.
I heard the police talking about it, I heard them say she had been
throttled or strangled ”. He went on to say in effect that he
took it for granted that it was right, that the police ought to know
and that otherwise he had no knowledge as to what caused her
death.

The Crown Prosecutor lost no time in seeking to turn to account
this doubtless unexpected admission. Before beginning the cross-
examination of the prisoner he applied to recall the police witnesses.
The prisoner’s counsel objected but the presiding Judge decided
to permit it. In the result after the close of the case for the defence
seven officers of police were recalled and examined and cross-
examined as to the possibility of someone having said that the dead
girl was throttled or strangled and of the prisoner having heard it.
When these witnesses had been called during the case for the
prosecution they had in some instances given times when they
came to the dwelling in a way which made it seem, erroneously
as it turned out, as if that was their first arrival. It was necessary
to clear these misapprehensions away. Although the evidence of
none of the seven witnesses given when recalled was long, the
cumulative effect was to bring into strong relief the admission
made by the prisoner that he had used the word “ throttled ”, to
give great emphasis to the point made by the Crown Prosecutor
upon it, as well as to the contradiction which was involved of the
prisoner’s evidence by so many witnesses and also to detract from
any advantage the prisoner might obtain in placing before the
jury by his personal evidence the answer he made to the charge
as the final thing before the addresses of counsel and the charge
to the jury by the judge.

Now an extremely strict rule has been adopted in the English
Court of Criminal Appeal with respect to the discretionary power
of a presiding judge to allow the prosecutor to call evidence
after the close of the case for the defence. The rule 13 adopted
from the language attributed to Z'endal C.J. in the report of
R. v. Frost (1). His Lordship is reported to have said :— There
is no doubt that the general rule is that where the Crown begins
its case, like a plaintiff in a civil suit, they cannot afterwards
support their case by calling fresh witnesses because they are met
by certain evidence that contradicts it. They stand or fall by the
evidence they have given. They must close their case before the

(1) (1839) 4 St. Tr. (N.S.) 86, at p. 386.
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defence begins; but if any matter arises ex improviso, which no
human ingenuity can foresee, on the part of a defendant in a civil
suit, or a prisoner in a criminal case, there seems to me no reason
why that matter which so arose ex vmproviso may not be answered
by contrary evidence on the part of the Crown . The great
limitation contained in this language lies, not in the expression
“ ex vmproviso ”’, which means no more than “ unexpectedly ~ or
“suddenly , but in the words ““ which no human ingenuity can
foresee 7. In the report in Carrington & Payne (1) the words
agscribed to Tindal C.J. are: “ But if any matter arises
ex 1mproviso, which the Crown could not foresee, supposing it
to be entirely new matter, which they may be able to answer
only by contradictory evidence, they may give evidence in reply ™.
The decisions in England allow the presiding judge at a criminal
trial to call a witness if he thinks the imperative demands of
justice require it. This view was acted on in Victoria (B. v.
Collins (2) ). But in Titheradge v. The King (3) this Court denied
the power. In England the rule expressed in the language of
Tindal C.J. is applied alike to the power of the judge to call a
witness and to his power to allow the prosecution to recall a witness
or call a new witness once the case for the prosecution has closed
and the prisoner has gone into his case. In R. v. Frost (4) it was
probably not intended to state an exhaustive rule. But how
rigidly the principle against reopening the case for the prosecution
was applied may be seen from the striking decision by Garrow B.
in R. v. Stimpson (5). In the end the language of Twndal C.J.
has come to be used in England as a criterion (R. v. Harreis (6) ;
R. v. Liddle (7); R. v. McMahon (8); R.v. Day (9) ). The earlier
cases of R. v. Crippen (10) and R. v. Sullivan (11) seem to have
allowed more flexibility. The formula adopted from Tindal C.J.
has little to commend it. The words  which no human ingenuity
can foresee ~” hardly express a legal principle. They are rhetorical,
but if literally understood they lay down a test which could almost
never be satisfied. Clearly the principle is that the prosecution
must present its case completely before the prisoner’s answer is
made. There are issues the proof of which do not lie upon the
prosecution and in such cases it may have a rebutting case, as
when the defence is insanity. When the prisoner seeks to prove

(1) (1839) 9 Car. & P., at p. 159[173 (6
E.R., at p. 784]. (7) (1928) 21 Cr. App. R. 3.

)

)
(2) (1907) V.L.R. 292. (8) (1933) 24 Cr. App. R. 95.
(3) (1917) 24 C.L.R. 107. (9) (1940) 27 Cr. App. R. 168.
(4) (1839) 4 St. Tr. (N.S.) 86. (10) (1911) 1 K.B. 149.
(5) (1826) 2 Car. & P. 415 [172 E.R.  (11) (1923) 1 K.B. 47.
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good character evidence may be allowed in reply. But the
prosecution may not split its case on any issue. The Court possesses
a power to allow further evidence to he called, but it must be
exercised according to rule and the rule is against reopening the
Crown case unless the circumstances are most exceptional. We
are not disposed to lay down the rule in the terms adopted from
Tindal C.J. in R. v. Frost (1). It is a matter of practice and
procedure, and in such matters, even where the procedure is
criminal and is directed to safeguarding the position of the accused,
there is less reason for closely following English authority than
where the development of the substantive law is involved. It 1s,
for example, difficult to apply the rule where the jury ask for the
recall of a witness or further proof or disproof of a fact. It seems
to us unsafe to adopt a rigid formula in view of the almost infinite
variety of difficulties that may arise at a criminal trial. It 1s
probably enough to say that the occasion must be very special or
exceptional to warrant a departure from the principle that the
prosecution must offer all its proofs during the progress of the
(rown case and before the prisoner is called upon for his defence.
The argument that ss. 430, 431 and 448 of the Crimes Act 1928
(Vict.) combine to make it impossible for the prosecution
to call further evidence after the prisoner has entered upon his
defence, or at all events concluded it, is, we think, unsound. But
the policy of these provisions strengthens the principle which
makes a departure from the rule allowable only in exceptional
circumstances. Further, although we have not thought it proper
to adopt the formula of Sir Nicholas Tindal, the English cases
make it plain enough that generally speaking an occasion will not
suffice for allowing an exceptional course if it ought reasonably
to have been foreseen. Again, it may be pointed out that even
an unexpected occasion may be of such a nature that it would
have been covered, had the Crown case been fully and strictly
proved.

The application of these principles ought, we think, to have
resulted in a refusal of the Crown Prosecutor’s application to recall
the seven officers of police. If the prosecution relied upon the
fact, as an incriminating circumstance, that the prisoner used the
word “ throttle ” at a time when only the guilty man could be
aware how the dead girl was killed it was necessary as part of the
Crown case first to prove that he used the word and then to exclude
the reasonable possibility of his having become aware or of his
supposing that she was throttled because of anything he saw or

(1) (1839) 4 St. Tr. (N.S.), at p. 386.
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heard. Whether he admitted or denied the use of the word it
had no incriminatory effect unless the possibility of his deriving
knowledge or belief that she was throttled from any other source
was reasonably disproved. No doubt it seemed hardly worth
while embarking upon an attempt to make full proof of the fact
that the prisoner could not have thought Sylvia Holmes was so
killed unless he killed her, until the prisoner admitted that he used
the word. It may be conceded that the cross-examination of the
witness deposing to the word  throttle ” confirmed this view.
But that did not alter the necessity, if reliance was to be placed
upon the use of the word, of proving the whole of the subsidiary
issue. The situation was one in which the prosecutor very naturally
sought to exploit an unexpected advantage arising from the
prisoner’s admission. We think that consistently with principle he
ought not to have been allowed to do so.

No doubt a discretionary judgment must be exercised by a
presiding judge and he has many advantages in its exercise denied
to a court of appeal. But we think that the present case was not
within the principle which was applicable.

There remains the question whether this is a proper case for the
grant of special leave to appeal. After some consideration we
have arrived at the conclusion that an affirmative answer should
be given to this question. It possesses a ‘special ” character
within the rule stated in In re Eather v. The King (1), because we
think in a case where the issues were, not simply whether the
prisoner was the man at whose hands the young woman died, but,
in addition, if so, whether his crime was murder or manslaughter,
the recalling of the seven officers of police at the end of the case,
which we think was wrong, and the presence in the case of so much
inadmissible evidence was very likely to operate unfavourably to
the prisoner. The prosecution must take the responsibility for
leading the inadmissible evidence. The failure of the prisoner’s
counsel to object could not make it admissible, but it was calculated
to place the presiding judge in a difficult and embarassing position.
For he could not be expected to see in advance that the evidence
would never be made relevant. Moreover, the failure of counsel
to object to inadmissible evidence may provide ground for an
inference that the reception of the evidence can give rise to no
substantial miscarriage of justice. In the present case, however,
we think that the elements to which we have referred combine to
make it proper to order a new trial.

(1) (1915) 20 C.L.R. 147.
VOL. LXXXV.—25
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We grant special leave to appeal, treat the appeal as instituted
and heard instanter, allow the appeal, set aside the refusal of leave
to appeal by the Supreme Court and in lieu thereof grant such
leave, set aside the conviction and sentence and order a new trial.

Furracar J. 1 have felt, in the course of considering this case,
some doubt as to whether this Court ought to interfere, but I have
come to the conclusion that special leave to appeal ought to be
granted. The Court has not adhered to the very strict rule laid
down in Father v. The King (1), and the dissenting judgment of
Isaacs J. in that case may be said to have prevailed almost from
the outset. The discretion is ¢ unfettered ”, though 1t is necessary
for an applicant to make ““ a prima-facie case showing special circum-
stances 7 : see In re Eather v. The King (2). In the present case
the crime of which the applicant was convicted is a capital crime.
I am clearly of opinion that the Crown ought not to have been
permitted, after the close of the case for the defence, to adduce
the further evidence which it did adduce. Further, I think 1t
highly probable that the learned trial Judge, in admitting that
evidence, not merely exercised his discretion wrongly but exercised
it without having present to his mind certain considerations which
(whether one accepts recent English authority with or without
qualification) undoubtedly demanded attention. The applicant
was entitled to have those considerations weighed, and, in a case
of this kind, it can make no difference that he was represented by
a barrister who ought to have drawn his Honour’s attention to
them. And, while I do not myself think it very likely that the
evidence in question made any difference to the result of the trial,
I cannot feel satisfied that it did not carry substantial weight
with the jury. When this position is reached, it seems to me
that, to adopt the words of Isaacs J. in Eather v. The King (3),
“ the cause of justice is better served by granting than by refusing
leave to appeal ”. And, in the circumstances of this case, 1t
almost necessarily follows that the appeal must be allowed.

I should not have thought it right to grant special leave on the
ground that evidence was wrongly admitted, although I am clearly
of opinion that the evidence of Kathleen Adams was inadmissible,
and although I think that other evidence was admitted which
went to show no more than that the applicant was a man of violent
disposition. If objection had been taken to the evidence of Adams
and to this other evidence, I feel sure that his Honour would

(1) (1914) 19 C.L.R. 409. (3) (1914) 19 C.L.R., at p. 428.
(2) (1915) 20 C.L.R. 147.
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have rejected it. On the other hand, I do not think that any of
the evidence given by Ada Adkins was inadmissible, and in any
case I am unable to regard any of the evidence in question as having
had any important effect on the issue of the trial. On what I
regard as the real question in the case, the question which was the
subject of the dissenting judgment of Swmath J., I have little to add
to what has already been said.

I entirely agree that the language which Twndal C.J. is reported
in the State Trials as having used in E. v. Frost (1) is altogether
too strict and rigid, and ought not to be accepted as a formula.
In the first place, I would regard the authority of the statement
so often quoted as extremely doubtful. The words “ ex improviso
and the words “ which no human ingenuity can foresee ” convey
radically different meanings, the latter being in no sense a transla-
tion of the former. The latter words do not occur in the report
in Carrington & Payne (2), and they have, to my mind, the almost
unmistakable character of a ““ gloss 7’ in the correct sense of that
much abused word—a note by a misguided commentator, which
has by some mischance become incorporated in the text. More-
over, the rule is stated as applying equally to criminal and to
civil cases, and I should not imagine that anybody would suppose
that the question should be approached from the same point of view
in both classes of case. In the second place, the rule so stated 1s
on its face fundamentally unsound and calculated not to aid but
to impede the administration of justice. After all, the aim of
legal proceedings, including eriminal proceedings, is supposed to be
to elicit the truth so far as human imperfection permits. I cannot
feel the slhightest doubt that the course taken by Cussen J. in
R. v. Collins (3) was entirely correct and proper.

These things having been said, however, it remains true and
important that the Crown should be permitted to adduce evidence
after the close of the case for the defence only in exceptional
circumstances and when 1t is reasonably clear that the accused
will not be unfairly prejudiced by the admission of the evidence.
A wide discretion must be conceded to the judge presiding at the
trial, but it should be regarded as limited in that way, and it is
to be remembered that the practical effect of evidence on the
minds of a jury may differ according as the evidence i1s adduced
in chief or by way of replication. But the discretion ought not
to be regarded as further limited or as governed by any rigid rule

(

1) (1839) 4 St. Tr. (N.S.), at p. 386. (3) (1907) V.L.R. 292.
(2)

(1839) 9 Car. & P. 129, at p. 159
[173 E.R. 771, at p. 784].
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or formula. I would add that it is by no means clear to me that
the same considerations are appropriate when the Crown proposes
to call further evidence as are appropriate when the judge is think-
ing of calling a witness himself. It is impossible to foresee and
provide a priors for the infinite variety of circumstances in which
either question may arise.

To the extent indicated above I would differ, with respect, from
Smith J.  But with his analysis of the situation in this particular
case I am in complete agreement, and, to my mind, it follows
from that analysis—even if one refuses to accept the State Trials
formula—that the evidence in question ought not to have been
allowed to be given. It is tempting, of course, to say that it could
not make much difference whether the evidence were given in chief

~ or by way of replication. But it might have made a great difference.

There were, as Smath J. points out, reasons why the Crown should
refrain from leading the evidence in question in the normal course
of its case. The point which the Crown was seeking to make by
it was a subordinate point, and—in view of the difference between
the evidence of Detective Witham and that of Constable Nailon—
it rested on a very weak foundation. To seek by witness after
witness to exclude all possibility of an innocent explanation of
words, the uttering of which would probably be denied, may well
have seemed to involve the tactical disadvantage which often
results from the magnification of a comparatively unimportant
jssue. When the accused (probably  ex improviso  of everybody
concerned in the case) admitted that he had used the word
“ throttled , the position changed, to my mind, more in appearance
than in reality. In view of the conflicting recollections of Constable
Nailon and Detective Witham, it could have been put with great
force to the jury that it would be very unsafe to find that the
word “ throttled 7 had been used. When the accused admitted
that he had used the word, the conflict between Nailon and Witham
may have seemed to be resolved in favour of Witham. But
actually it might well have been thought still very unsafe to rely
even on the accused’s recollection of the use of a particular word
nearly eighteen months before in circumstances of high excitement
and tension, although the Crown could have quite fairly and
properly relied on the “admission” and put to the jury the
general improbability of his explanation of his use of the word,
commenting on the cross-examination of Witham. When, however,
a whole series of witnesses was called with a view to excluding or
minimising the possibility of the truth of the accused’s explanation,
there was danger that, in the eyes of the jury, a comparatively
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unimportant issue might be magnified out of all proportion and
that altogether undue weight might be attached to evidence which,
on any view, ought to have been scanned with caution. Nor was
this danger mitigated when the learned judge, towards the end of
his charge to the jury, referred to the difference between Nailon’s
version and Witham’s version as a ‘‘slight ” difference. The
verbal difference was indeed slight, but the difference in significance
was the difference between the innocuous and the possibly damning.
I agree with the order proposed.

Order that special leave to appeal be granted and
that the appeal be treated as instituted and
heard instanter. Allow the appeal. Set
aside the order of the Supreme Court
refusing leave to appeal and in liew thereof
grant such leave to appeal and set aside
the conviction and sentence and order a
new treal.

Solicitor for the accused, D. G. Sullwan.
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